FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/14/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/13/2019 4:22 PM

97853-1

NO. 78278-9

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILLIAM SORNSIN, an individual, MARC T. BECK, an individual, ROBERT GOREE, an individual, AARTI VARMA, an individual, EVAN W. LEWIS, an individual, BENJAMIN G. JOLDERSMA, an individual, BRIAN N. KU, an individual, DAMIEN JOLDERSMA, an individual, DONALD J. CLORE, an individual, JOSEPH C. WRIGHT, an individual,

Appellants

v.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND CITATION.

Appellants William Sornsin, Marc T. Beck, Robert Goree, Aarti Varma, Evan W. Lewis, Benjamin G. Joldersma, Brian N. Ku, Damien Joldersma, Donald J. Clore, and Joseph C. Wright, respectfully petition the Supreme Court to grant discretionary review of *Sornsin, et al v. Scout Media, Inc. et al*, No. 78278-9-I, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 2600, 2019 WL 5107004 (Ct. App. Oct. 14, 2019).

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

Does the definition of "wage" include compensation at termination of employment for Paid Time Off that has been earned by an employee?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

A. Introduction.

This case arises from a policy in Scout Media, Inc.'s ("Scout")

Employee Handbook that effects the forfeiture of earned Paid Time Off

("PTO") benefits if an employee does not provide two weeks' notice prior

to resignation. The Court of Appeals incorrectly held that Scout's

Employee Handbook is a contract and that Appellants' PTO benefits are
subject only to the "contract" between Scout and its former employees.

The Court of Appeals also held that PTO is not a "wage" under

Washington law reasoning that there is no statutory right to payout for

PTO earned on an hours worked basis in contradiction of this Court's

definition of "wage." Because this case presents both matters of public interest and the Court of Appeals's decision is in conflict with published authority, review by the Supreme Court is warranted.

B. Factual History of the Case

Appellants worked for Scout in various capacities and for different lengths of time but all of them resigned their employment on July 19, 2016. CP 125-33; 152-57; 160-65. Employees of Scout accrued PTO at a rate of between 4.62 and 9.24 hours per pay period. CP 113. Scout's Employee Handbook states, "[n]othing in these guidelines should be construed as creating any contractual rights or obligations." CP 92. Upon their departure, Appellants received a document from Scout that stated in pertinent part that all accrued PTO would be paid at 100%. CP 132, 138-141.

When PTO was not paid on July 21, 2016, Appellant William Sornsin emailed to the Respondents, among others, the Appellants' demand for payment of accrued PTO. CP 132-136. Respondents Mallitz, Robinson, and Fahmy were on Scout's board of directors and Respondent Amazeen was the President of Scout on the date of Appellants' resignations. CP 132. Scout willfully failed to pay the Appellants their wages at the direction of its Board of Directors. CP 159. Following Scout's bankruptcy, the Respondents have continued to withhold payment of the Appellants' wages. Furthermore, Respondents have testified that they knew that Appellants had not been paid their accrued PTO and that the Respondents did nothing to ensure payment of Appellants' accrued PTO. CP 279; 282-283; 289-290; 235.

C. Relevant Procedural History Of This Action

This action was filed by the Appellants on December 16, 2016. CP 1-8. Respondents answered on June 7, 2017. CP 15-26.

On February 9, 2018, Appellants and Respondents filed competing Motions for Summary Judgment. On March 9, 2018, Judge North granted Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed Appellants' claims with prejudice. CP 663. In the same order, Judge North denied Appellants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. *Id*.

Appellants appealed, and Division I of the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's determination in an opinion dated October 14, 2019.

IV. ARGUMENT.

Under RAP 13.4(b), the Supreme Court will grant discretionary review if a decision conflicts with Supreme Court or published Court of Appeals authority, or if it presents an issue of substantial public interest.

A. There Is A Public Interest in Whether Accrued PTO Should Be Treated as Wages Under the Law.

Many employees in Washington earn PTO in a manner that is the same or substantially similar to the Appellants in this case. There is a public interest in determining whether such earned PTO is to be treated as a wage or whether an employer can institute an arbitrary policy to cut off payment for earned PTO.

When an employee's employment ends, "whether by discharge or by voluntary withdrawal, the wages due him or her...shall be paid to him or her at the end of the established pay period[.]" RCW 49.48.010. When an employer refuses to pay wages "[a]ny employer and any officer, vice principal or agent of any employer...shall be liable in a civil action by the aggrieved employee...to judgment for twice the amount of the wages unlawfully...withheld[.]" RCW 49.52.070. "A person is a 'vice principal' and personally liable under RCW 49.52.070 in a wrongful withholding of wages case when that person exercises control over the payment of funds and acts under that authority." *Durand v. HIMC Corp.*, 151 Wn. App. 818, 835, 214 P.3d 189 (2009) (citing *Ellerman v. Centerpoint Prepress, Inc.*, 143 Wn.2d 514, 22 P.3d 795 (2001)). Furthermore, "financial inability of an employer to pay wages owed is not a defense to avoid personal liability." *Morgan v. Kingen*, 166 Wn.2d 526, 535, 210 P.3d 995 (2009). This is true regardless of whether an employer enters bankruptcy. *Id.*; *Schilling v. Radio Holdings, Inc.*, 136 Wn.2d 152, 163-64 (1998).

In defining the term "wages" for the purposes of RCW 49.48 *et seq.* "Washington Courts have looked to the definition of this term in a related statute, RCW 49.46.010(2)." *McGinnity v. AutoNation, Inc.*, 149 Wn. App. 277, 284, 202 P.3d 1009 (2009). "Wage' means compensation due to an employee by reason of employment[.]" RCW 49.46.010(7). This Court has expanded the definition of "wage" to include "payments tied to hours worked." *Hisle v. Todd Pac. Shipyards*, 151 Wn.2d 853, 868, 93 P.3d 108 (2004).

Scout's employee handbook contains the following formula for

employee accrual of PTO:

PTO Allotment

Company provided PTO is granted to Full Time Regular employees hired after January 1, 2013 as follows in a calendar year:

Years of Service:	Full-Time	Accrual Per Pay Period
1–4 years	120 hours	4.62
5-9 years	160 hours	6.16
10-19 years	200 hours	7.70
20 or more years	240 hours	9.24

CP 113.

The employees would accrue PTO based on hours worked or each "pay period." The employee could then receive pay when they took time off for vacation or sick leave. The accrued PTO should fall under the definition of "wage" because it is directly tied to an employee's hours worked.

Scout's employee handbook also contains a provision that works a forfeiture of payment for accrued PTO upon an employee's termination of employment:

PTO Pay Upon Termination

Employees will be paid out 70% of PTO they have accrued at employment end. If an employee leaves the Company before accruing what has already been taken, at the time of the employee's last paycheck, the employee will be responsible for payment of PTO time owed to the Company.

Scout reserves the right to withhold any and all PTO time if an employee neglects to give a two week notice of termination regardless of position or length of service.

CP 114.

Appellants' PTO wages were withheld under this policy.

Appellants argued at summary judgment and at the Court of Appeals that this provision, which denies an employee compensation for hours already worked, was precluded by Washington law. The Court of Appeals reasoned, citing Montana and Minnesota cases, that an employer can

condition payment for accrued PTO. Slip Op. at 8.

The Court of Appeals also cited *Walters v. Ctr. Elec. Inc.*¹ reasoning that a "right to payment for accrued PTO is only contractual." Slip Op. at 7. However, *Walters* is a breach of contract case where the court stated in pertinent part, "[c]learly...we are not...interpreting any statute which pertains to vacation pay or vacation time. Neither are we ascertaining whether or not pay in lieu of vacation constitutes 'wages' under a wage payment act such as RCW 49.48.010." 8 Wn. App. at 326.

The Court of Appeals reasoned that "appellants claim that the manual is not a contract, they do not identify any other contract providing them with PTO payment rights." Slip Op. at 7. Despite the Respondents' arguments, Scout's Employee Handbook is not a contract. CP 92. It is a document that unilaterally sets policies for the company. In setting those policies, the handbook created a statutory right to payment for accrued PTO because such payments are "directly tied to hours worked." *Hisle*, 151 Wn.2d at 863.

When an employer has received the benefit of an employee's labor it should not be allowed to deny the employee those earned wages by creating an arbitrary condition. The condition of working the hours to earn the PTO should be the only condition allowable under Washington law.

Any other approach provides employers the opportunity to arbitrarily withhold earned wages from employees.

6

¹ 8 Wn. App. 322, 506 P.2d 889 (1973).

B. It is in The Interest of the State to Recognize Workers' Rights That Are Competitive With Those of Neighboring States.

Washington has long prided itself on being a pioneer for the protection of employee rights. See *Hisle*, 151 Wn.2d at 861 (Washington is "a pioneer for protection of employee rights.")(citing *Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, Inc.*, 140 Wn.2d 291, 996 P.2d 582 (2000)); *Schilling*, 136 Wn.2d at 159 ("The [wage] statute must be liberally construed to advance the Legislature's intent to protect employee wages and assure payment."). However, on this issue, Washington is several decades behind other western states as well as a number of other states.

In its decision, the Court of Appeals ignores this Court's definition of "wage" set forth in *Hisle* which compels the same conclusion that has been reached in Oregon, Idaho, and California; that accrued PTO, tied to hours worked, are deferred wages that the employee has earned and must be compensated for upon termination of employment.

There are certain states that mandate the payment of accrued PTO by express statutory language. Both Louisiana and Nebraska are such states. The wage statute in Nebraska specifically requires the payment of "earned but unused vacation leave to a separating employee." *Fisher v. Payflex Sys. USA, Inc.*, 285 Neb. 808, 813, 829 N.W. 2d 703 (2013) (citing Neb. Rev. Stat. § 48-1229(4)). However, Nebraska's Supreme Court reasoned that the statute requiring payment for vacation leave also required the payment of unused PTO hours because the employees "had an absolute right to take this time off for any purpose they wished[.]"

Fisher, 285 Neb. at 819.

Similarly, in Louisiana, "unused 'paid time off' that an employee has accrued during the course of and based on work under the terms of his or her employment constitutes wages earned during a pay period due under the Louisiana Wage Payment Act." Davis v. St. Francisville Country Manor, LLC, 136 So. 3d 20, 24 (La. Ct. App. 2013) (emphasis in original) (citing Boudreaux v. Hamilton Medical Group, Inc., 644 So. 2d 619 (La. 1994). Louisiana's statutory scheme even contemplates the injustice that Scout's employee handbook seeks to perpetrate: "The provision of this Subsection shall not be interpreted to allow the forfeiture of any vacation pay actually earned by an employee pursuant to the employer's policy." La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 23.631(D)(2). "When an employer promises a benefit to employees, and employees accept by their actions in meeting the conditions, the result is a not a mere gratuity or illusory promise, but a vested right in the employee to the promised benefit." Davis, 136 So. 3d at 24 (citing Knecht v. Board of Trustees for State Colleges and Universities and Northwestern State University, 591 So. 2d 690 (La. 1991)).

Several other states have found a statutory right to payout for earned PTO without express statutory language to that effect. For example, Oregon "construe[s] 'wages' to mean *all* earned compensation contracted to be paid by the employer for the employee's personal service regardless of the nature of such compensation." *State ex rel. Nilsen v.*

Oregon State Motor Asso., 248 Ore. 133, 136, 432 P.2d 512 (1967). "No discretion is vested in the employer to withhold the vacation provided the employee meets the contract terms for eligibility. To earn this right the employee is required to perform personal service. The vacation is given for this personal service." *Id.* "As commonly understood, the term 'wages' as well as the term 'compensation' includes vacation pay." *Id.* 248 Ore. at 138. Oregon comes by this definition indirectly in almost an identical manner that Appellants pray this Court interpret "wage" based on the definition from *Hisle*.

Idaho also interprets "wages" to include pay out for accrued PTO. Whitlock v. Haney Seed Co., 114 Idaho 628, 634-35, 759 P.2d 919 (1988).⁴ There the court reasoned "payment for earned vacation is directly analogous to wages. All courts that have considered this question under their respective wage claim statutes have concluded likewise." Id. 114 Idaho at 634 n.6 (citing Hartman v. Freedman, 197 Colo. 275, 591 P.2d 1318 (1979); Die & Mold, Inc. v. Western, 448 N.E.2d 44 (Ind.Ct.App.1983); Tompkins v. Schering Corp., 441 So.2d 455 (La.Ct.App.1983); Nilsen, 248 Or. 133, 432 P.2d 512 (1967)).

Similarly, California has held that "[t]he right to a paid vacation,

² It is important to note that the conditions provided for in Oregon, as well as in other states, is the actual work performed to earn the PTO, not satisfying an arbitrary policy, like providing two-weeks' notice.

³ *Nilsen*, 248 Or. at 135.

⁴ Since *Whitlock* was decided, Idaho Code Ann. § 45-609 has been redesignated as Idaho Code Ann. § 45-601, a copy of which can be found in the appendix.

when offered in an employer's policy or contract of employment, constitutes deferred wages for services rendered. Case law from this state and others, as well as principles of equity and justice compel the conclusion that a proportionate right to a paid vacation 'vests' as the labor is rendered." *Suastez v. Plastic Dress-Up Co.*, 31 Cal. 3d 774, 784, 647 P.2d 122 (1982). This "right is protected from forfeiture by [Cal. Lab. Code] § 227.3." *Id.* However, "[e]ven before the enactment of section 227.3...[c]ourts have allowed recovery for vacation pay despite the fact that contract eligibility requirements were not met, if the employee had substantially performed." *Id.* 31 Cal. 3d at 783.

In reaching this conclusion, the Supreme Court of California reasoned, "[i]t is established that vacation pay is not a gratuity or a gift, but is, in effect, additional wages for services performed. *Id.* 31 Cal. 3d at 779 (citation omitted). "Courts in other jurisdictions which have considered whether discharged or striking employees have a 'vested' right to a pro rata share of vacation pay have uniformly held that the right vests as services are rendered." *Id.* 31 Cal. 3d at 781.

It is beyond dispute that an agreement to pay vacation pay to employees made to them before they performed their services, and based upon length of service and time worked, is not a gratuity but is a form of compensation for services, and when the services are rendered, the right to secure the promised compensation is vested as much as the right to receive wages or other form of compensation.

Id. (citing Livestock Feeds v. Local Union No. 1634, 73 So.2d 128 (Miss.

1954).

"If some share of vacation pay is earned daily, it would be both inconsistent and inequitable to hold that employment on an arbitrary date is a condition precedent to the vesting of the right to such pay." *Suastez*, 31 Cal. 3d at 782.

The Scout Employee Handbook's arbitrary denial of full compensation for accrued PTO would be precluded in all of the abovementioned states. All of these states, whether expressly by statute or by interpretation of wage statutes, define payment for accrued PTO be a wage that has been earned by an employee. The same is true of the forfeiture contained in Scout's Employee Handbook. Certain states expressly forbid such a forfeiture in the statutory schemes while others simply require the full payment of earned wages, in this case earned PTO.

V. CONCLUSION.

As the Appellants have demonstrated, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with existing authority and raises substantial issues affecting the public interest. The Court of Appeals failed to interpret Washington's entire statutory scheme related to the payment of wages in the form of accrued PTO. For these reasons, the Appellants respectfully request the Court grant discretionary review.