FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/13/2019 12:42 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97853-1

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILLIAM SORNSIN, an individual; MARC T. BECK, an individual; ROBERT GOREE, an individual; AARTI VARMA, an individual; EVAN W. LEWIS, an individual; BENJAMIN G. JOLDERSMA, an individual; BRIAN N. KU, an individual; DAMIEN JOLDERSMA, an individual; DONALD J. CLORE, an individual; and JOSEPH C. WRIGHT, an individual,

Appellants,

v.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Appellants' Petition for Discretionary Review fails to satisfy any provision of RAP 13.4(b) and should be denied. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with a decision of this Court nor does it conflict with any published decision of the Court of Appeals.<sup>1</sup> Likewise, neither the Court of Appeals decision nor the Petition presents any constitutional question. Finally, there is no issue of substantial public interest.

In short, Washington employers are not required to pay employees for unused vacation time or PTO unless the employer agrees to do so.

There is no statutory right to PTO or to the payment of accrued PTO.

Instead, any such right is a matter of contract or reliance. And if an employer chooses to offer payments of accrued PTO, it may also reasonably condition any such entitlement.

This is why, during all relevant times—and, as the Court of Appeals noted, as of October 7, 2019—the Washington State Department of Labor & Industries ("DLI") expressly advised employees and the public at large that "[p]aid vacation, holiday, and severance pay are considered voluntary benefits that a business may choose to offer workers" and

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals decision ("Op.") is Appendix A to the Petition for Review. *See also Sornsin v. Scout Media, Inc.*, \_\_ Wn.App. \_\_, 450 P.3d 193 (2019).

"Washington State law does not require a business to provide these benefits."<sup>2</sup>

In this case, it is undisputed that Scout had a written Employee Manual that stated a specific policy regarding payment of accrued PTO. The Employee Manual provides that Scout will pay employees for PTO accrued at employment end, subject to and conditioned upon an employee's giving the company two weeks' notice of termination.

Appellants admittedly failed to satisfy this express condition.

Scout had an express policy regarding the condition precedent to an employee's entitlement to payment of accrued PTO. The Appellants failed to comport with the straight-forward requirement of that policy.

Under the applicable law, and given the undisputed facts, Appellants' claims for accrued PTO were properly dismissed by the trial court and the Court of Appeals affirmed. The Petition should be denied.

#### II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF CASE

## A. The Scout Employee Manual.

Appellants are former employees of Defendant Scout Media, Inc. ("Scout").<sup>3</sup> CP 2 at ¶¶ 1-11, CP 126, 128, 129, 132.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Op. at 7-8; *Sornsin*, 450 P.3d at 196 and n.22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Scout is a defunct corporate entity that entered bankruptcy prior to the filing of the underlying Complaint. *See In re: Scout Media, Inc.*, No. 16-

During Appellants' employment tenure with Scout, the company had an Employee Manual, which addressed a variety of employment-related topics, including "Paid Time Off' ("PTO"). CP 187 at ¶¶ 2-4 and CP 192-232; CP 234 at ¶¶ 2-4 and CP 238-273.<sup>4</sup>

The Employee Manual specifically addresses "PTO Pay Upon Termination." CP 187 at ¶ 4 and CP 220; CP 23 at ¶ 4 and CP 266. In relevant part, it states that (a) "Employees will be paid out 70% of PTO they have accrued at employment end;" and (b) "Scout reserves the right to withhold any and all PTO time if an employee neglects to give a two week notice of termination regardless of position or length of service." *Id.* 

## B. The Employees Resigned Without Notice.

On Sunday, July 10, 2016, the bulk of Scout's technology team resigned *en masse* and without notice, including the Appellants in this case. CP 187 at ¶ 7; CP 234 at ¶ 5; CP 301-311.

#### C. Scout Paid All Accrued Wages.

Following Appellants' resignation from Scout, company
management took steps to ensure that the former employees were paid all

<sup>13369-</sup>MEW, United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. Scout is a named defendant but never appeared in this action.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See also CP 278 at ¶ 4; CP 282 at ¶ 4; and CP 289 at ¶ 5. The Scout Employee Manual was updated in April 2014 and was not revised or modified thereafter. CP 187 at ¶ 5; CP 235 at ¶ 4.

wages earned as of the date of resignation—and Appellants were, in fact, paid. CP 234 at ¶ 7; see also CP 293 at ¶ 6 and CP 316-321.

Scout did not pay any of the Appellants accrued PTO upon their resignation from Scout because these employees resigned without notice. CP 187 at ¶ 7; CP 234 at ¶ 5; RP 6:6-15. As a result, they failed to satisfy the payment requirement stated in the Employee Manual—*i.e.*, they failed to give Scout two weeks' notice. CP 189 at ¶ 14 and CP 220; CP 235. at ¶ 12 and CP 266. No accrued PTO was due. *Id*.

#### D. The Lawsuit.

The Complaint alleged wage claims and a claim for unjust enrichment against Scout for: unpaid bonuses ostensibly due Plaintiffs William Sornsin and Marc Beck; and unpaid accrued PTO ostensibly due to all Plaintiffs. CP 5-7 at ¶¶ 36-46. Plaintiffs dismissed with prejudice their claims arising from alleged unpaid bonuses. CP 295 at ¶ 21.

## **E.** The Dispositive Motions.

In February 2918, Plaintiffs and Defendants Craig Mallitz, Craig Amazeen, Joe Robinson, Tammer Fahmy, and Pilot Group GP, LLC filed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Plaintiffs sought to impose derivative liability under the wage statutes against (a) Craig Amazeen (the former President of Scout); (b) Craig Mallitz, Joe Robinson and Tammer Fahmy (former Directors of Scout Media Holdings, Inc., the parent of Scout); and (c) Pilot GP, LLC (a former investor in Scout Media Holdings, Inc.). CP 1-8.

cross-motions for summary judgment. CP 144-150; CP 166-181. The motions were briefed and argued to the trial court on March 9, 2018. *Id.*, CP 615-625; CP 627-636; CP 644-648; CP 650-657; CP 663; RP 4-14.

The Court granted Defendants' motion and denied Plaintiffs' motion. CP 664-665; CP 666-667.

# F. The Court of Appeals Decision.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court. In relevant part, the Court of Appeals held as follows:

- The Washington cases that that Appellants rely upon regarding a purported statutory entitlement to payment of accrued PTO do not stand for this proposition.<sup>6</sup>
- This Court's opinion in *Hisle v. Todd Pac. Shipyards*, 151 Wn.2d 853, 93 P.3d 108 (2004) does not concern accrued PTO or a statutory right to PTO.<sup>7</sup>
- "Appellants cite no case, treatise or other authority directly supporting their claim that they have an affirmative statutory entitlement to payment for their accrued PTO."8
- "Appellants cite no authority to counter the proposition that in Washington an employee's right to payment for accrued PTO is only contractual."9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Op. at 4; *Sornsin*, 450 P.3d at 194-95 (discussing *Naches Valley Sch. Dist. No. 3 v. Cruzen*, 54 Wn.App. 388, 775 P.2d 960 (1989) and *McGinnity v. AutoNation, Inc.*, 149 Wn.App. 277, 202 P.3d (2009)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Op. at 5-6; *Sornsin*, 450 P.3d at 195.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Op. at 6; Sornsin, 450 P.3d at 195.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Op. at 7; Sornsin, 450 P.3d at 196 (emphasis supplied).

#### III. ARGUMENT

# A. There Is No Statutory Entitlement to Payment of Accrued PTO under Washington Law.

Appellants previously argued that "Washington law has long recognized accrued PTO for both sick and vacation wages under RCW 49.8.030." But, as noted above, the Court of Appeals squarely rejected this argument and ruled that the cases Appellants relied upon did not support them. Op. at 4; *Sornsin*, 450 P.3d at 194-95. Simply put, there is no statutory or other legal requirement for a Washington employer to pay accrued PTO to its employees.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See Appellants' Opening Brief in the Court of Appeals at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Consistent with black-letter contract law, *Cruzen* holds that teachers are entitled to payment for unused sick leave if their employment contract—a collective bargaining agreement (CBA) with the school district—provides such a benefit. 54 Wn. App. at 396. The entitlement in Cruzen was contractual, not statutory. Once embodied by contract, the entitlement can be deemed a form of "wages" for purposes of RCW 49.48.030, which provides for an award of attorneys' fees. *Id.* at 399. But this is a separate issue from whether payment of accrued PTO is mandated by the wage statutes in the first instance. McGinnity, the other case Appellants rely upon, is of a piece with Cruzen—i.e., the right at issue was contractual not statutory—and the Court of Appeals declined to review the arbitrators finding that "vacation time does not constitute wages under Washington law." 149 Wn.App. at 280-283. See also Teamsters, Local 117 v. Northwest Beverages, Inc., 95 Wn.App. 767, 769, 976 P.2d 1262 (1999) (sick leave under collective bargaining agreement did not constitute vested compensation, but was contingent benefit; and "a legislative purpose to convert contingent benefits into wages due is simply not found in RCW 49.48.010 or in the Minimum Wage Act, RCW 49.46[.]").

Under Washington law, an employee's right to PTO or to the payment of accrued PTO is <u>contractual</u>, and subject to the employer's discretion. *See, e.g., Walters v. Ctr. Elec. Inc.*, 8 Wn. App. 322, 327, 506 P.2d 883 (1973) (holding that the right to receive accrued vacation pay is "obtainable contractually through the employment contract," and reversing trial court judgment for accrued vacation pay).<sup>12</sup>

In an effort to avoid Scout's stated policy—and the clear notice requirement that is the condition precedent to receiving payment for accrued PTO—Appellants now argue that the Scout Employee Manual "created a statutory right to payment for accrued PTO because such payments are 'directly tied to hours worked." Pet. at 6 (citing *Hisle*, 151 Wn.2d at 163). This novel argument has no support in the law.

In relevant part, *Hisle* holds that a retroactive payment provision in a collective bargaining agreement is subject to Washington's Minimum

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> This is consistent with other jurisdictions. *See, e.g., Chipman v. Northwest Healthcare Corporation, Applied Health Services, Inc.*, 317 P.3d 182 (Mont. 2014) ("[t]he right to earn compensation for personal time may be subject to reasonable restrictions and conditions precedent;" affirming summary judgment dismissing employee claims for payment of accrued sick-leave); *Lee v. Fresenius Medical Care, Inc.*, 741 N.W.2d 117 (Minn. 2007) (Minnesota law does not require PTO and employers are permitted to set conditions on the right to PTO, including payment of accrued PTO; reversing court of appeals and reinstating summary judgment in favor of employer regarding employee claim for payment of accrued vacation time).

Wage Act, RCW 49.46, et seq. (MWA). 151 Wn.2d at 857.<sup>13</sup> The CBA at issue in *Hisle* provided for "[r]etroactive payments of \$.60 for each non-Washington State Ferry Project attendance hour from August 1, 1996 until the execution date of the contract[.]" *Id.* at 858. That is, as in *Cruzen* and *McGinnity*, the "wage" entitlement in *Hisle* was a function of a specific contractual right.

The particular "wage" claim in *Hisle* concerned an asserted entitlement to overtime under RCW 49.46.130(1). 151 Wn.2d at 861. And because the contractual payment provision in the CBA was "tied to hours worked," the court held that it was "subject to the overtime provisions of the MWA." *Id.* at 862-63.

This outcome is both unsurprising and irrelevant to this case. *Hisle* does not concern accrued PTO, much less a contingent right to PTO, and its factual context is entirely distinguishable. Nor does *Hisle* stand for the proposition that a contractual benefit that is somehow "tied to hours worked" automatically becomes a "wage" with statutory entitlement.

Neither the statutory definition of "wage" in RCW 49.46.010 nor the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The CBA provided for "[r]etroactive payments of \$.60 for each non-Washington State Ferry Project attendance hour from August 1, 1996 until the execution date of the contract[.]"

holding of *Hisle*, which concerns a statutory entitlement to overtime wages, has any bearing on the facts to this case.

# B. Whether Washington' Statutory Scheme Should Be Altered to Provide Additional Employee Benefits is a Legislative Matter.

Appellants argue that Washington statutory framework should be altered so that accrued PTO is a vested benefit and statutory right because "on this issue, Washington is several decades behind other westerns states as well as a number of other states." Pet. at 7.

In this respect, Appellants assert that Louisiana and Nebraska both "mandate the payment of accrued PTO by express statutory language." Pet. at 7. Appellants also assert that courts in Idaho, Oregon and California have interpreted those states' respective statutes to provide for payment of accrued PTO. *Pet.* at 8-10. Appellants thus argue that the Scout Employee Manual's "arbitrary denial of full compensation for accrued PTO would be precluded in all of the above-mentioned states." *Id.* at 10.

The statutory schemes of other states have no bearing on
Washington' statutory scheme and do not create a matter of "substantial
public interest" for Washington citizens that requires resolution by this

Court.<sup>14</sup> The question of whether Washington's statutory scheme should be altered in the future is a matter properly delegated to the Legislature.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

Under applicable Washington law, there is no unconditional statutory entitlement to payment of accrued PTO when an employee terminates his or her employment. The trial court correctly dismissed Appellants' Complaint and the Court of Appeals affirmed. This Court should deny the Petition.